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OUR VISION 
Gymnastics: the foundations  
of movement for all. 

OUR MISSION 
Develop our people, Grow our sport 
and Promote our brand. 

OUR VALUES 
Respect, Excellence, Leadership, 
Integrity, Team Work.

Promote

develop

grow
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President & Executive Director’s Report

Through the significant effort by both the Gymnastics WA staffing 
team and the wider community, we were able to surpass the initial 
COVID-19 forecasted membership numbers for 2020, reaching 
16,310, equating to only a 6.8% decrease from 2019. Technical 
membership also recovered strongly with 1022 coaches and 290 
judges, increasing by 9.8% from the previous year.

During 2020, 9669 children participated in community and 
school gymnastics programs across the state. Due to the obvious 
constraints of the past year, we were unable to deliver the range 
and number of community programs we had anticipated. A 
highlight of 2020 for Gymnastics WA was participating in  
the sold-out Telethon Family Festival, capturing over 20,000 
exposures to the sport and a staggering 1091 children 
participating in the Gym Warriors & KinderGym circuits. 

Almost all competitions were cancelled during the year however 
during October and November re-engagement events for the 
competitive stream of the sport were successfully held for Men’s, 
Women’s, Rhythmic and Trampoline Gymnastics. Another highlight 
of 2020 was the introduction of live streaming at the Festival of 
Gymnastics, a celebration of our sport through Performance 
Displays, FreeG and TeamGym. It was wonderful to welcome back 
the smiling faces of our community, whether it was in person or 
via live streaming. 

Over the past year, there have been two major topics affecting 
the dialogue at both a State and National level. Firstly, in 
conjunction with Gymnastics Australia, the National Redress 
Scheme and its impact has been discussed and reviewed by the 
Board. Secondly, national focus turned to listening and offering 
support to athletes sharing their stories through the Gymnast 
Alliance movement. Gymnastics Australia was proactive in 
engaging the independent Australian Human Rights Commission 
review into Gymnastics in Australia, which is due to release its 
findings by May 2021. 

Gymnastics WA is fortunate to have a dedicated group of 
Board members who have put in huge amounts of time and 
energy behind the scenes over the past year. We would like to give 
thanks, appreciate and acknowledge the tireless efforts they put 
into their roles; Steve Chetkovich, Richard Elkington, Sarah 
Marshman, Guy Osborne, Kim Tarzan and Karon Williams. 
This year particularly, has been a year of difficult decisions, but 
as a group, the Board always looked out for the sport of 
gymnastics as a whole, leading Gymnastics WA forward. 
Long-term members Karon Williams and Richard Elkington 
decided to not stand for re-election and therefore we welcomed 
two new Board members, Eva Kierath and Matthew Schneider 
to the Committee, bringing with them new skill sets. 

As a Board, we are appreciative of all Gymnastics WA staff who 
go above and beyond to deliver the many activities, services 
and events that make our sport respected in the WA sporting 
environment. We are fortunate to have a team of staff with 
exceptional passion, drive and enthusiasm to deliver our sport 
throughout the state. We would like to specifically recognise 
Sally Cruttwell who worked for Gymnastics WA for over 20 years, 
holding a variety of positions during that time before finishing with 
the Association in December. The Board would also like to 
recognise the significant role Karyn Murray played 
throughout 2020, stepping into the position of Acting 
Executive Director at short notice and right before the 
pandemic crisis commenced. Her leadership, experience and 
knowledge brought stability and guidance to the Association. 
We also welcomed Emily Randall as the new Executive Director, 
leading the staffing group into 2021.

Due to the strong fiscal management of Gymnastics WA and 
through Lotterywest Sector Support for Resilient Organisations 
from the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries (DLGSC), a Rebooting Sub-Committee was established, 
and developed strategies to enable Member Clubs to rebuild 
strongly. Some outcomes included a strategic partnership with 
marketing experts, Roobix to create a comprehensive strategic 
marketing plan and campaign delivery. The Gymnastics 
Rebooting Fund also provided grant-funding opportunities to 
support projects or initiatives as Member Clubs returned to the sport. 

The Board were able to provide Member Clubs a 50% reduction 
in athlete membership fees for terms one to three, and charged no 
athlete fees in the fourth term as well as facilitating the deferral 
of payments. The gymnastics workforce was impacted with many 
clubs unable to keep casual coaches during the pandemic, and as 
a result, the Board approved significant reductions for all coaching 
courses held in the latter part of the year.

The Finance and Audit Committee, chaired by Guy Osborne, have 
kept the Board abreast of Gymnastics WA’s financial position, 
ensuring suitable strategic decisions were made to support our 
Member Clubs and keep Gymnastics WA in a robust financial 
position. Our Awards and Nominations Committee, chaired by 
Karon Williams, has ensured clear and transparent processes in 
the selection and nomination of major awards. 

The Board continues to focus on good governance and is 
continually working with DLGSC to ensure we have contemporary 
policies, educated in new Sport Australia initiatives and abreast 
of changes impacting the sporting environment. The Governance 
and Risk Committee, chaired by Steve Chetkovich, has ensured 
Gymnastics WA has strong governance at all levels of the 
organisation. 

The unprecedented and ever-changing events across the world in 2020 affected every part of our lives. 
The year had many challenges for our gymnastics community to respond to, often with very little notice, 
constantly changing information and the need to find new methods of engaging members. Gymnastics WA 
and our Member Clubs had many tough decisions to make, weathering the storm in the best way possible 
and then rebooting our sport across the State. Throughout the year, Gymnastics WA remained in constant 
contact with the relevant Government agencies to provide our members with the most up to date and 
pertinent information on a variety of topics. This past year has certainly shown that we all achieve more 
by working together.
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We would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge and thank 
both Karon and Richard for their time, service and expertise to 
make positive contributions towards Gymnastics WA. Karon 
Williams has been a driving force in our sport and is both a 
Gymnastics Australia and Gymnastics WA Life Member. She 
has chaired many sub-committees and been President of the 
Association. Rick Elkington has served two separate periods on 
the Board. He has brought a range of business and sporting 
experience to the Association and has served on several 
sub-committees and been a former Vice President of the 
Association. 

With the challenges of the past year, it highlights the extensive 
gymnastics family that comes together especially when times are 
hard. Thank you to our Member Clubs who are our public face 
and have remained adaptable and resilient, continuing to deliver 
a range of programs both face-to-face and virtual gymnastics 
programs. Your dedication and passion for gymnastics shines 
through and the support to each other has been fantastic to 
witness. To our Regional Associations, we know that it was not 
possible to run many of your events, but it is a credit to the 
committees who are eager and ready to deliver activities to all 
corners of our State in 2021. The Technical Committees who 
work consistently behind the scenes throughout the year, the 
Association could not run without you and we appreciate the time 
and effort that you all provide. Gymnastics is a sport heavily 
reliant on our technical members and volunteers and the Board 
thanks you all for your commitment to our sport and the passion 
and energy you show every day. 

President & Executive Director’s Report CONT

Desiree Jones
PRESIDENT

Emily Randall
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The support of our partners and stakeholders is crucial for 
Gymnastics WA to function as such a strong and dynamic 
organisation, meeting the challenges of the year. The Board 
would like to thank our partners; Gymnastics Australia, the 
Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries, Lotterywest, Healthway - Go for 2&5, City of Vincent, 
WAIS, VenuesWest, SportWest, Roobix, Brightside Live, City 
Toyota and GKD for their ongoing support. This support is 
essential for Gymnastics WA to deliver our sport across the state 
with quality programs and we are grateful for the assistance, 
support and guidance received.

Finally, we are very honoured to be part of what we consider 
to be the best sport in Australia with wonderful hard working 
and committed people involved at all levels of our sport. 
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life members staff
Julie Biltoft (d)
Val Norris-Buffham
Connie Burch
Liz Chetkovich
Steve Chetkovich
Terry Delhanty (d)
Trish Fritz
Noel Hunt
Nelleck Jol-Jacoby
Desiree Jones
Peter King (d)
Akos Kovacs (d)
Nikolai Lapchine
Andrew McLaughlin (d)
Gail Melinger
Trudi Nurse
Marion Panizza
Pam Pryce
Norm Reid (d)
Dave Robertson (d)
Dot Segon
Jos Simenson (d)
Barbara Smith
Maureen Strauss (d)
Barry Thompson
Steve Turpin
Debbs van Hagen
Tracy Holmes
Alida Scott
Karon Williams

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
Emily Randall (Sep – Dec)

ACTING EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Karyn Murray (Feb – Sep)

SENIOR MANAGER SPORT & 
PATHWAYS 
Karyn Murray (Jan & Oct – Dec)

SENIOR MANAGER OPERATIONS 
Sally Cruttwell (Jan – Dec)

DEVELOPMENT MANAGER 
Mitchell Collins (Jan – Dec)

MARKETING MANAGER 
Adelaide Jackson

SENIOR GYMSPORTS COORDINATOR 
Melissa Read

SENIOR PARTICIPATION & INCLUSION 
COORDINATOR 
 Abid Imam (Jan – Dec)

EVENT & VOLUNTEER COORDINATOR 
Lucy Young (Jan – March)

PARTICIPATION & SPORT COORDINATOR 
Anja Xavier -(Jan - April)  
(Maternity Leave April - Dec)

CLUB DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR 
Michelle Francis (Jan)

PATHWAYS COORDINATOR 
Jaye Bardsley

EDUCATION ADMINISTRATOR 
Katie Oxley 

FINANCE & ADMINISTRATIVE 
COORDINATOR 
Renée Itzstein 

ADMINISTRATIVE COORDINATOR 
Brooklynn Code (Feb – Mar)

WAG HIGH PERFORMANCE PROGRAM

PROGRAM MANAGER & SENIOR COACH 
Dhana Antulov

SENIOR COACH 
Joshua Fabian

SENIOR COACH 
Nikolai Lapchine (Jan – Feb)

SENIOR DEVELOPMENT COACH 
Katherine Rogers

SENIOR DEVELOPMENT COACH 
Alicia Hayes

DEVELOPMENT COACH 
Jessica Greene

DEVELOPMENT COACH 
Caroline Wickens

DEVELOPMENT COACH 
Amanda Duerloo

STAFF WHO DEPARTED IN 2020 
Milton Brooks 
Brooklynn Code 
Mitchell Collins 
Sally Cruttwell 
Michelle Francis 
Abid Imam 
Lucy Young 
Nikolai Lapchine

Desiree Jones 
PRESIDENT 

JAN—DEC

Sarah Marshman 
APPOINTED DELEGATE JAN - AUG 

VICE PRESIDENT AUG—DEC

Steve Chetkovich 
ELECTED DELEGATE 

JAN—DEC

Richard Elkington 
ELECTED DELEGATE 

JAN—AUG

Guy Osborne
VICE PRESIDENT JAN - AUG

ELECTED DELEGATE AUG - DEC

Eva Kierath 
ELECTED DELEGATE 

AUG—DEC

Karon Williams
ELECTED DELEGATE 

JAN—AUG

Emily Randall 
BOARD APPOINTED 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
SEPT—DEC

Matthew Schneider 
ELECTED DELEGATE 

AUG—DEC

Kim Tarzan 
ELECTED DELEGATE 

JAN—DEC

Karyn Murray 
BOARD APPOINTED 
ACTING EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTOR
FEB—SEPT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Governance & Risk Sub Committee
CHAIR Steve Chetkovich 
Sarah Marshman 
Greg Stephens 
Eva Kierath (commenced Sep)

Finance & Audit Sub Committee
CHAIR Kim Tarzan (Member Jan – Aug, Chair from Sep) 
Guy Osborne (Chair from Jan – Aug, Member Sep - Dec) 
Rick Elkington (Jan – Aug) 
Matthew Schneider (Sep – Dec)

Awards & Nomination Sub Committee
CHAIR Eva Kierath (Chair from Oct) 
Karon Williams (Chair from Jan – Sep) 
Guy Osborne 
Allana Slater (commenced Oct)

High Performance Advisory Group
CHAIR Desiree Jones 
Philip Gregson 
Karl Cooke 
Dr Sacha Fulton 
Leo Kimble 
Jo Richards 
Lauren Mitchell 
Brenton Treacher 
Janine Murray

Men’s Artistic Gymnastics Technical 
Committee
TECHNICAL DIRECTOR 
Brenton Treacher

JUDGING COORDINATOR 
Matthew Lean 
COACHING COORDINATOR 
Darren Hicks

EVENTS COORDINATOR 
Richard Kural 

Women’s Artistic Gymnastics Technical 
Committee
TECHNICAL DIRECTOR 
Ben Barnard

JUDGING COORDINATOR 
Tracy Holmes

COACHING COORDINATOR 
Ashleigh Lyons

EVENTS COORDINATOR 
Rebecca House

COMMUNICATIONS & PROMOTION COORDINATOR 
Donna Grocott

Rhythmic Gymnastics Management Committee
CHAIR Karon Williams (Jan – Aug) 
Tahnee Cowie 
Elsa Mieusset 
Soula O’Meara (Jan – Sep) 
Conor Rawlins

Aerobic Gymnastics Technical Committee
TECHNICAL DIRECTOR 
Samantha Elkington

JUDGING COORDINATOR 
Beverley Van Elven

committees & advisory groups

COACHING COORDINATOR 
Debbs van Hagen

EVENT COORDINATOR 
Sophie Dwyer

COMMUNICATIONS & PROMOTION COORDINATOR 
Paula Osborne

Trampoline Gymnastics Technical Committee
TECHNICAL DIRECTOR 
Elliot Stratton

JUDGING COORDINATOR 
Eva Kierath (Jan – Aug)

COACHING COORDINATOR 
Artem Yakubov

EVENTS COORDINATOR 
Nikki Wood

COMMUNICATIONS & PROMOTION COORDINATOR 
Ricardo Santos

Acrobatic Gymnastics Technical Committee
TECHNICAL DIRECTOR 
Debbs van Hagen

JUDGING COORDINATOR 
Fiona Harling 

COACHING COORDINATOR 
Jaclyn Rhodes 

EVENT COORDINATOR 
Jessica Barnden

COMMUNICATIONS & PROMOTION COORDINATOR 
Marie Greene

Gymnastics for All Technical Committee
Sue Owen 
Debbie Gough 
Kristy McDowall 
Kiri Penter 
Fiona Harling

Southern Regional Gymnastic Association
PRESIDENT 
Serena Sandwell

COMMITTEE MEMBER 
Helen Kirby

COMMITTEE MEMBER 
Ebony Rogers

COMMITTEE MEMBER 
Tonya Hollis

North West Regional Gymnastic Association
PRESIDENT 
Krystal Cilia

VICE PRESIDENT  
Erica Zappelli

TREASURER 
Rose Clarke

COMMITTEE MEMBER 
Carmen Standring

COMMITTEE MEMBER 
Michelle O’Keefe

COMMITTEE MEMBER 
Tonya Hollis
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2020 in focus...

315
course
attendees

41
courses
delivered

52 
clubs & Associate 

Members

723
technical
members

16 310
athlete
members

97
sporting 
schools

9 669
school

participants

1 250 000
social media 
impressions!

(the total number of times posts, stories and 
promotions have been viewed across Facebook 

and Instagram)

6 290
Facebook
followers

3 870
instagram

FOLLOWERs
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2020 Membership Profile

athletes by gender

Female  

77%  
Male  

23% 

2020 Athletes by Discipline

 GfA 8 649
 KGYM 4 296
 MAG 507
 WAG 3 278
 RG 145
 AER 47
 TRP 1290
 ACR 143

female Athletes by age

 0–3 Years 766
 4–5 Years 2 381
 6–8 Years 5 202
 9–12 Years 3 436
 13–15 Years 753
 16–18 Years 176
 19+ Years 179

male Athletes by age

 0–3 Years 414
 4–5 Years 755
 6–8 Years 1 131
 9–12 Years 795
 13–15 Years 186
 16–18 Years 53
 19+ Years 102

athlete Membership

0

2 000

4 000

6 000

10 000

14 000

16 000

18 000

20 000

8 000

12 000

2018

18 763

2019

17 565

2016 2017

17 748
16 310

2020

15 896

technical members

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2017

689

2018

756

2016

648

2019

746

2020

621
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geographical location of centres

PILBARA

KIMBERLEY

GASCOYNE

MID WEST

GOLDFIELDS

WHEATBELT

GREAT  
SOUTHERNSOUTH  

WEST

REGIONAL vs metro member clubs/centres

Metro  

29
Regional 

23

size of clubs

Small (<250) 

34
Medium (251—899) 

12
Large (900+) 

6

PERTH  
ZOOM

3

3

2

3

1

3

53

PEEL1
28

REGIONAL vs metro athlete memberS

Metro  

13 928
Regional 

2 382
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engage and enthuse

Festival of Gymnastics
Gymnastics WA held the Festival of Gymnastics over the weekend 
of 21 – 22 November at the State Gymnastics Centre to 
celebrate and unite the gymnastics community after a challenging 
year, showcasing Performance Displays, TeamGym and FreeG. 

The community event kicked off on a Saturday night with an 
energetic and colourful celebration of gymnastics through the 
performance displays with 135 athletes participating in 12 teams 
from 8 clubs. 

Audience engagement included live voting and live streaming, 
allowing spectators and those at home to be involved in voting 
for their favourite small, medium or large group performances. 
The live stream via YouTube was incredibly successful and 
professionally presented, reaching in excess of 1,400 views within 
the first 24 hours of the event. 

Day two of the Festival of Gymnastics started with FreeG, 
challenging athlete’s abilities on the Speed-Run and Freestyle 
courses. The Festival concluded with a TeamGym session displaying 
inaugural Open-International divisions. This reflected the 
progressively improving level of teams in WA with 64 athletes 
from five clubs taking part in the Gymnastics for All competitions. 

The Festival of Gymnastics successfully engaged the community 
in a memorable way, celebrating the return to sport through the 
second half of 2020. 

School Engagement
As restrictions eased, Gymnastics WA was due to re-engage with 
schools through fundamental movement classes with coaches, 
resulting in 11 school visits totalling 790 students. These visits 
received excellent feedback from schools due to the development, 
learning and resources teachers received during the sessions, 
empowering them to continue delivering programs and promote 
the sport through the school system. 

Unfortunately, due to COVID-19 restrictions, the association was 
not able to deliver the Interschool Women’s Artistic Gymnastics 
competition or Go for 2&5 Start Here Go Anywhere Carnival. 

Sporting Schools continued to engage school students across WA 
in Gymnastics through fundamental movement classes. This 
allowed clubs and coaches the opportunity to promote the sport 
and their club. In 2020, 9,669 students participated in the 
Sporting Schools program across 97 schools in metropolitan and 
regional WA.

KinderGym
Gymnastics WA received $35,238 from Gymnastics Australia 
through funding linked to the Sport Australia Move It AUS 
Participation Grant. This funding provided a much-welcomed 
boost to Gymnastics WA in a bid to grow and raise the profile 
of KinderGym participation through inclusive delivery at clubs. 

Through the grant program, Gymnastics WA was able to enter a 
partnership with Inclusion Solutions, a leading mentoring, training 
and consultancy service who has worked with organisations such 
as Cricket Australia. Gymnastics WA was able to develop an 
inclusive KinderGym resource with Inclusion Solutions, which could 
promote social inclusion and the KinderGym program, both 
locally and nationally. 

Gymnastics WA was able to leverage the refreshed KinderGym 
branding to produce localised marketing and communications, 
which included videos from WA club programs. 

To help Gymnastics WA engage the wider community post the 
easing of COVID-19 restrictions, the funding supported the delivery 
of a specialised KinderGym circuit at the Telethon Family Festival, 
which attracted 480 children under the age of five and promoted 
pathways to local clubs. 

Gym Warriors
Gym Warriors is a participation initiative developed by Gymnastics 
WA with support from Healthway to engage children and young 
people through fundamental movement activities. The program 
harnesses the proven popularity, and broad appeal of Parkour, 
Ninja Warrior, free-running and obstacle courses to capture 
children's enjoyment. The activities allow primary school aged 
children to develop their movement skills in engaging ways 
through fast-paced, energetic obstacle course circuits in a range 
of settings including clubs, schools and outdoors.

Gymnastics WA engaged community coaches Nicole Colev 
and Michelle Ranieri to be consultants in developing the Gym 
Warriors program. This includes developing resources such as 
lesson plans, skill and activity cards for coaches and athletes, club 
engagement guides to promote to clubs, coaching station videos 
and Gym Warriors branded equipment. With an early 2021 launch 
date, Gym Warriors aims to boost the recreational gymnastics 
pathway and engage a new demographic into the sport. 

Telethon Family Festival
Gymnastics WA participated in the Telethon Family Festival at 
Optus Stadium, one of WA’s largest and most iconic family 
events. Building upon a relationship, which started in 2019, 
Telethon provided Gymnastics WA with a prime location within 
the HBF Active Zone to engage children of all ages through a 
KinderGym and Gym Warriors circuit.

Through assistance from Gymnastics Australia’s Sport AUS 
Move it Aus funding grant, Gymnastics WA was able to deliver 
a professional and engaging activation space displaying 
fundamental movement opportunities through KinderGym and 
Gym Warriors. There were 1,091 participants recorded through 
the activation and information was provided to each participant 
and their parent/guardian on how to join their local club. 

Despite the heat and COVID-19 physical distancing restrictions, 
the Telethon Family Festival platform allowed Gymnastics WA to 
generate positive engagement with the community through the 
presence of the Gym Squad mascot and promotional giveaways. 

Gymnastics WA would like to thank Healthway for their ongoing 
support, encouraging the Western Australian public to live a healthy 
and active lifestyle, whatever their age. Thank you must also go 
to Telethon and Optus Stadium for their assistance throughout 
the event. 
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TeamGym
TeamGym is a proven national engagement program for athletes 
to compete in teams of 6-12 members on Floor, Mini-Trampoline 
and Tumbling. Coming out of WA’s COVID-19 restrictions, an 
increasing amount of clubs were looking at programs to re-engage 
their athletes. To assist these clubs, Gymnastics WA helped to 
facilitate a TeamGym Forum for the North West and Southern 
Regional Gymnastics Associations in June. A total of 18 coaches 
and club representatives attended the online forum across WA, 
a positive result for the program. 

This forum allowed the Southern Regional Gymnastics Association 
to deliver their first ever TeamGym competition in Katanning on 
7 November. An impressive 108 athletes competed from Great 
Southern Gymsports, Esperance Twilight Aerials Gymnastics 
Academy and Narrogin Gymnastics Club. This demonstrated 
the potential of TeamGym to grow across WA. 

TeamGym continued to develop in WA at a high competitive level 
with Open and International divisions included in the Festival of 
Gymnastics TeamGym competition. Zig Zag Gymnastics’ Wildfire 
team made gymnastics history as Australia’s first team to perform 
in the International division. The hard work of the Gymnastics for 
All Committee and TeamGym representative, Debbie Gough, 
greatly assisted the growth of TeamGym in WA during 2020 

Fitter for Life
Gymnastics WA received $6,000 funding from Gymnastics 
Australia’s Move It Aus Better Ageing grant. This was to introduce 
a new social movement program for seniors called Fitter for Life 
into WA. The program enables clubs to deliver programs during 
off-peak hours during the day for a much-needed segment of 
the population. On 8 March, Gymnastics WA was able to invite 
Fitter for Life expert and advocate, Frances Crampton from NSW 
to deliver a first ever coaches/presenters workshop. Sixteen 
coaches from eleven clubs attended, with nine becoming 
qualified as presenters of Fitter for Life coaching workshops. 
Unfortunately, postponement of the Come and Try event occurred 
due to the impact of COVID-19 restrictions.

With coaches now qualified in WA to deliver Fitter for Life, the 
program looks to make a positive impact upon project resumption. 

Participation & Inclusion Overview 
Gymnastics WA continues to support and provide resources to 
the wider community through strong network and relationship 
building strategies. In 2020, Gymnastics WA is proud to have all 
52 affiliated clubs in our state being able to offer disability and 
inclusive programs to all individual participants. Gymnastics WA 
has worked incredibly hard with Inclusion Solutions to provide a 
resource toolkit for recreational gymnastics, scheduled for release 
in 2021. Many of the Gymnastics WA staff attended a workshop 
with Inclusion Solutions in December to promote our Inclusion 
Policy to all of our clubs. Across the year, we also had over 1,000 
Kidsport vouchers directly linked to Gymnastics clubs around WA 
providing kids the opportunity and exposure to the sport in 2020.
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Events
After successfully commencing the Qualification Competition 
season in March, events quickly came to a halt only a few weeks 
later, when COVID-19 restrictions forced the closure of WA 
gymnastic clubs and the cancellation of all remaining events for 
2020. With WA clubs reopening again throughout May and June, 
Gymnastics WA established a series of Spring Challenge events 
for those Gymsports who felt that their community would benefit 
from a competition opportunity to engage their members in the 
latter half of the year. Men’s and Women’s Artistic, Rhythmic and 
Trampoline Gymnastics all ran a successful event throughout 
October and November. The events were adapted in order to 
cater for the impact that club closure had on athlete development 
during the middle months of the year and as a result, the events 
attracted a pleasing number of participants from a variety of 
different clubs. The athletes and coaches involved were all 
grateful for the competition experience and the opportunity to 
showcase their routines despite the disruption to the season 
caused by the pandemic.

Marketing Overview
2020 was a big year for the Marketing team, progressing with 
sponsorship consultants, The Brand Builders together with 
significant investment from strategic partner, Roobix for the 
development of Gymnastics WA’s marketing and 
communications strategy and significant club support. 

The Brand Builders worked with Gymnastics WA to develop 
resources and upskill staff to be able to suitably approach 
potential partners and manage current strategic partnerships. 
Understanding the difficulties in developing successful strategic 
partners due to COVID-19, the Brand Builders also delivered 
TOBi (Team and Organisational Brand Intelligence) workshops for 
staff, focussing on creating cohesive teams and communicating 
the organisations brand through all activities. With this support, 
Gymnastics WA were able to form strong strategic partnerships 
with Roobix and City Toyota in 2020 and looking to form further 
in 2021. 

The significant impact Member Clubs experienced from 
COVID-19, resulted in Gymnastics WA committing to prioritise 
the development of a strategic marketing plan and activities to 
optimise member experience, club owner experience and brand 
image in the years ahead. We formed a strategic partnership with 
Roobix in August 2020 which will continue into 2021, with the 
focus on raising the profile and engagement of gymnastics in 
WA but also providing support to clubs on the ground. This 
engagement will support both objectives and ensure Gymnastics 
WA is able to amplify the work delivered at a state level by 
empowering Member Clubs to spread brand campaigns at a 
local level, ultimately forging ahead with common and uniformed 
messages for the sport in WA. 

Social Media Engagement
Gymnastics WA continues to convey positive communications and 
promotion of gymnastics through social media engagement. In 
the past twelve months, Gymnastics WA’s Instagram has seen a 
substantial growth of 11% in followers and reach of over 
291,000 (7% increase from 2019).

Facebook has seen significant growth in 2020 however more 
importantly; this medium remained an important information-
sharing platform, used substantially to communicate directly 
with our community during the COVID-19 lock down period. All 
necessary updates were shared through a simple and direct 
communication via Facebook whilst also offering an opportunity 
to entertain and interact with our community. 

Social Media continues to be an entertaining medium, allowing 
Gymnastics WA to take advantage of new and exciting elements 
at our events such as live streaming through multiple mediums. 
Gymnastics WA took the opportunity to build a virtual audience 
through live streaming the Festival of Gymnastics in November. 
With venue restrictions, only 200 audience members were 
permitted at the State Gymnastics Centre, however, live 
streaming allowed in excess of 1500 additional viewers. This 
enabled a wider audience to enjoy this event but also gave 
everyone the opportunity to participate in live voting. Thanks to 
Brightside Live who brought the live streaming to life through 
the Gymnastics WA YouTube channel. Building on this success, 
Gymnastics WA looks forward to implementing this feature for 
key events in 2021. 

With digital technologies increasing, it is important to maintain 
a strong profile both as a State Sporting Association as well as 
individual profiles. Through mediums such as Instagram, we have 
been able to host entertaining interviews, behind the scenes 
content and ultimately getting to know our people better. A 
highlight through 2020 was the development of the Star Cast 
Instagram Live Interviews, with athletes such as Lauren Mitchell, 
Allana Slater, Georgia Godwin and Janine Murray. In particular, 
two very important conversations occurred with AIS Community 
Custodians Joshua Di Nucci and Lily Gresele, highlighting the 
need to break down the stigma on mental health discussions and 
the importance of supporting mental health initiatives. With an 
average of over 500 viewers during live interviews and over 
1000 through IGTV, the Star Cast interviews allowed the 
Gymnastics WA community to interact directly with gymnastics 
heroes whilst learning how they continued to stay positive and 
motivated through the lock down period. 

Reflecting on 2020, Social Media channels ensured we remained  
a strong and connected community. It allowed our community to 
interact with each other and continue to enjoy their love for 
gymnastics through online means. 
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Event Attendance – athletes

 GfA 192
 MAG 158
 WAG 429
 RG 96
 AER 33
 TRP 156
 ACR 16
 CHAMPS N/A
 SCHOOLS N/A

 GfA 312
 MAG 442
 WAG 1301
 RG 266
 AER 36
 TRP 213
 ACR 62
 CHAMPS N/A

Event Attendance – spectators

1 080 2 632

Statistics

Participants

9 669
in 2020

97 programmes

71 Metropolitan
26 Regional

Sporting Schools Statistics

1 012
in 2020

KidSport Registrations 
1 012 unique Kidsport registrations 
by Affiliated Gymnastics WA Clubs. 
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Club Engagement 
The Club Engagement Strategy was adapted in 2020 with the 
focus on assisting Member Clubs through the COVID-19 global 
pandemic. This included utilising online platforms to support club 
forums and workshops, regular COVID-19 updates and regular 
phone calls to Member Clubs. This enabled Gymnastics WA to 
gain an understanding of the landscape facing our community 
and provide the opportunity to implement initiatives to support 
the survival and recovery of our clubs. 

Rebooting Gymnastics Plan
Gymnastics WA developed a Rebooting Gymnastics Plan in 
June 2020 to assist our clubs and community with recovering 
after the pandemic lockdowns. The key activities that directly 
supported our community included the reduction of Athlete 
Membership Fees and deferral of club payments, financial 
grants and reduction of costs for coaching courses. These steps 
taken allowed Gymnastics WA to support our clubs in their  
re-engagement and recruitment of members throughout the 
second half of the year, whilst also supporting a number of clubs 
to restart strongly after their facility closure.
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Education
Gymnastics WA experienced a decrease in candidates attending National Education 
Framework Coaching Courses in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Throughout 
2020, we had 23 Hosted Coaching Courses. The Club Hosted Coaching Courses are still 
a favourable option for our Member Clubs and provide great upskilling opportunities 
for all club stakeholders. We had 163 Beginner Coaches in 2020, which is important 
for the growth of Member Clubs throughout the community. 

Gymnastics WA experienced a decrease in candidates participating in judging courses 
for 2020 compared to previous years. Gymnastics WA supported the delivery of 
judging courses throughout our regions, which will greatly assist our regional clubs in 
gaining more judges for events in 2021. As the calendar continues to be busy, it was a 
positive step forward for our regions to be able to host those courses.

COACHING COURSE NUMBER OF 
COURSES

NUMBER OF 
HOSTED COURSES

NUMBER OF 
CANDIDATES

Beginner 6 4 163

Advanced Module 1 2 2 16

GFA Intermediate 1 2 7

KG Intermediate 1 2 9

MAG Intermediate 2 1 14

TRP Intermediate 1 1 10

TRP Advanced Module 1 1 0 3

TUM Intermediate 1 3 19

WAG Intermediate 2 2 32

WAG Advanced 1 0 6

TOTAL 18 17 279
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JUDGING COURSE NUMBER OF 
COURSES

NUMBER OF HOSTED 
COURSES

NUMBER OF 
CANDIDATES

MAG Intermediate 0 1 9

TRP Beginner 0 1 3

TRP Advanced 0 1 3

WAG Beginner 1 1 18

WAG Advanced 1 0 3

TOTAL 2 4 36

Regional Review
Gymnastics WA was limited in their opportunity to visit regional clubs in 2020 due 
to COVID-19 restrictions. An exciting opportunity arose and a huge accomplishment 
resulted given the turbulent year, through the Southern Region Gymnastics Association, 
delivering their first TeamGym event. Gymnastics WA utilised an online conference 
platform to conduct two regional forums, engaging with eight Member Clubs discussing 
membership fees, COVID-19 restrictions and planning for Term 3 and 4. Gymnastics 
WA will continue to aim for Regional Tours in 2021 and look forward to returning to our 
regional communities.

Workforce
Gymnastics WA delivered a Floor Manager and Volunteer Workshop in February, prior 
to the start of the Qualification Competition season. In addition to the course run at 
the State Gymnastics Centre, a course specific to Trampoline Gymnastics occurred at 
High Flyers Trampoline and Gymnastics Academy. With events cancelled from March 
onwards due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there were no further opportunities available 
for any additional training or development in this area. Re-engaging these volunteers 
will therefore be a key priority moving into 2021.
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High Performance Overview
In 2020, the High Performance Operational Plans for Men’s 
and Women’s Artistic and Trampoline Gymnastics were unable 
to be delivered due to the affect that COVID-19 created. With 
no interstate or international travel permitted, the event and 
education opportunities usually available to our coaches, 
athletes and officials resulted in no applications for High 
Performance Grant funding. This grant funding opportunity is 
normally an important funding source to support coaches  
and judges.

Substantial impact on the development of upcoming pathway 
athletes occurred in 2020 with the cancellation of state and 
interstate competitions. Competitions are an integral facet of the 
eligibility criteria for Team Future and State Squad camps as 
selection occurs based on the outcomes from the Qualification 
Competition season, selection to State Teams and competitions 
later on in the year.

Gymnastics WA Athlete Camp
In January 2020, Gymnastics WA delivered the inaugural 
Gymnastics WA Athlete Camp, a three-day development camp 
for Women’s Artistic Gymnastics athletes and coaches. The camp 
aimed to inspire and motivate whilst providing an exciting 
opportunity to work with some of the best gymnastics’ coaches 
in Australia. Peter Abbott, Stacey Umeh and Head Coach 
Peggy Liddick covered a wide variety of focus areas ranging 
from spotting and skill development to dance and artistry. 
The camp was well received with 61 athletes and 15 coaches in 
attendance. 

Athlete Wellbeing & Engagement
Athlete Wellbeing & Engagement opportunities commenced in 
early 2020 with the Developing Champions Program delivered 
by the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries and the Western Australian Institute of Sport. 
Twenty-eight athletes across Men’s and Women’s Artistic, 
Rhythmic, Trampoline and Aerobic Gymnastics attended four 
workshops focussed on Athlete Wellbeing. This program 
unfortunately came to a halt after two of the four workshops 
where delivered online due to the impacts of COVID-19.

After the ease of restrictions, Gymnastics WA was able to deliver 
a set of Athlete Wellbeing Workshops in October and November. 
The two workshops focused on Athlete Nutrition presented by 
Sports Nutritionist Julie Meek via an online platform and Athlete 
Mental Health delivered by MAG athlete and AIS Lifeline 
Community Custodian Joshua Di Nucci in a face-to-face 
interactive workshop. Across all gymsports, 95 athletes on a 
pathway to high performance were invited to attend these free 
workshops. The uptake resulted in 29 athletes and parents 
attending the nutrition workshop, and 17 attending the athlete 
mental health. Those who were involved in the workshops were 
grateful for the opportunity and provided positive feedback for 
future workshops. 

Throughout 2020, Gymnastics WA also provided funding 
support to High Performance Trampoline athlete, Eva Kierath 
to attend weekly rehabilitation sessions at Performance Pilates 
and Physiotherapy. This was to assist in her preparation for 
selection onto the Australian Team for the Tokyo Olympic Games. 

Coach Development
Due to the early impacts of COVID-19, Gymnastics WA was 
unable to deliver Coach Development projects planned for 
2020. However, throughout the year a number of different 
opportunities were provided to pathway coaches through regular 
communication of education and professional development 
opportunities by Gymnastics Australia, the Department of Local 
Government, Sport and Cultural Industries and the West 
Australian Institute of Sport. 

The West Australian Institute of Sport launched their Sport Coach 
Education series in July 2020. This series consisted of High 
Performance focused workshops delivered online and face to 
face every 3-4 weeks. Distribution of all workshop information 
to gymnastics High Performance coaches across the gymsports 
provided them with a wide variety of opportunities to develop 
their knowledge and upskill in high performance areas. 

The launch of the Gymnastics Australia NextGEN accelerated 
coaching program in August 2020, aims to improve the 
leadership capacity and enhance the experience of female 
performance coaches working in the development and 
performance pathway in Women’s Artistic Gymnastics. Coaches 
around Australia were given the opportunity to apply for this 
24-month program. Ashleigh Lyons from Northern Districts 
Gymnastic Club was the only Western Australian Coach selected 
onto this program. Congratulations to Ashleigh who is proactive 
in taking up ongoing professional development opportunities and 
in particular this notable achievement 

The Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural 
Industries developed the Coach Leadership series designed for 
WA High Performance coaches and officials to take part in a 
series of workshops to assist in the development of effective 
leadership capability and capacity in individuals working in 
pathway sporting contexts. Delivery of the series occurred over a 
four-month period by Dr Sandy Gordon from Performance 
Perspective International. Gymnastics WA acknowledges and 
congratulates both Joshua Fabian and Dhana Antulov from the 
Women’s Artistic High Performance Program for their selection 
and completion of this extremely well regarded course. 

Gymnastics Australia piloted the Virtual Coach Program in 
October, developed and delivered by their High Performance 
Team. WA coaches Skyla Woollons from Vital Gymnastics and 
Ricardo Santos from High Flyers Trampoline and Gymnastics 
Academy were selected to participate in this program that 
facilitated seven sessions between October and December.
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Child Safeguarding
Gymnastics WA remained committed to Child Safety and 
safeguarding throughout 2020. Gymnastics WA is supporting 
the Australian Human Rights Commission review of the sport 
of gymnastics in Australia. The review is to inform better practices 
in gymnastics and to ensure athlete safety, wellbeing and 
empowerment. Gymnastics WA will continue to work with 
Gymnastics Australia and our stakeholders, ensuring best practices 
are implemented to provide safe and inclusive environments for 
all athletes to enjoy the sport of gymnastics.. 

Endure

Governance and Risk Committee
The Governance and Risk Committee’s primary tasks throughout 
2020 were the continual development of the Strategic Risk 
Register, Board Action Plan, reviewing Terms of References and 
ensuring Gymnastics WA is meeting its Gender Diversity Guidelines. 

The Governance and Risk Committee has also been reviewing and 
providing information to the Gymnastics WA Board on the 
National Redress Scheme. The Royal Commission into Institutional 
Response to Child Sexual Abuse has created the National 
Redress Scheme (NRS) in response to the recommendations, 

The Scheme provides eligible individuals with access to the 
following:

• Counselling

• A redress payment, and / or

• A direct personal response from an institution

Under the NRS, an “institution” such as Gymnastics WA, is 
considered responsible for child sexual abuse if it was responsible 
for bringing the child into contact with the person who abused 
them.

Participating institutions are also responsible for funding redress 
for individuals who experienced child sexual abuse while in the 
care of their institution. Independent Decision Makers determine 
where the responsibility lies under the NRS.

The committee has continued reviewing all the relevant 
documentation provided by Gymnastics Australia, whilst also 
seeking further support from SportWest and the Department of 
Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries to ensure we 
have reviewed all aspects of joining the scheme.
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Funding Partners
Gymnastics WA acknowledges the importance of the ongoing 
funding support provided by the Department of Local Government 
Sport and Cultural Industries (DLGSC), Healthway and 
Lotterywest in 2020.

The funding provided by DLGSC was instrumental in Gymnastics 
WA being able to maintain and enhance its good governance. 
It has also enabled the association to continue to develop and 
grow the sport of gymnastics, aligning projects within our strategic 
plan to steer the direction of the sport in Western Australia.

The two-year partnership encompassing 2019 and 2020 with 
Healthway allowed Gymnastics WA to encourage healthy 
lifestyles through the effective promotion of messaging relating 
to Healthway priority areas. The promotion of the Go for 2&5 
message throughout our programs, events and target projects 
encourages our gymnastics community to remain healthy and 
active whilst also extending our reach into the Western Australian 
community. The strength of this partnership shows potential for 
growth in 2021 and beyond.

Lotterywest provided crucial support through the Lotterywest 
COVID-19 Relief Fund. This funding assisted Gymnastics WA to 
establish the Rebooting Gymnastics campaign to support our 
community through the COVID-19 period as well as allowing 
the organisation to respond to the impacts of the crisis. 

City Toyota signed a partnership agreement with Gymnastics WA 
in 2020. The support given by City Toyota directly assists the WAG 
High Performance Program in transporting athletes to and from 
training. This partnership is vital in the continual refinement of high 
performance systems and training environments whilst developing 
well-balanced athletes to achieve at the highest level.

Gymnastics WA engaged Roobix to strengthen its marketing 
strategy and execution after Member Clubs felt a significant 
impact from COVID-19. In partnership with Roobix, Gymnastics 
WA has resolved to prioritise its marketing strategy and activities 
to optimise member experience, club owner experience and 
brand image moving forward. This partnership is designed to 
support key marketing and communication objectives and ensure 
that Gymnastics WA can amplify the work that they do at a state 
level by empowering Member Clubs to spread Gymnastics WA 
brand campaigns at a local level, ultimately forging ahead with 
a common and uniform message for the sport in WA.

State Teams
Planning for State Team travel to the 2020 Australian Gymnastics 
Championships came to a halt in late March because of the 
closure of indoor sporting activities with the outbreak of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The cancellation of the 2020 Australian 
Gymnastics Championships was understandable and necessary; 
however, for WA athletes, coaches, judges and clubs who had 
already spent a significant amount of time and energy in preparing 
for this important National event, the blow was significant.

Gymnastics WA’s travel provider, Travel Forever swiftly cancelled 
the travel bookings that had already been made and the 
association was then able to submit an insurance claim in order to 
recoup the deposits that were unable to be refunded. Gymnastics 
WA is appreciative of the ongoing support of Kevin Mattaboni 
from Travel Forever and look forward to maintaining an 
ongoing relationship in 2021.
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Men’s Artistic Gymnastics

Overview
2020 promised to be an exciting year for Men’s Gymnastics in 
Western Australia. Our senior athletes were in full competition 
preparation mode early in the year, however, unfortunately in 
March all events were cancelled. Qualification Competition #1 
was the only competition to go ahead for the senior men. The 
cancellation of the Australian Gymnastics Championships on 
the 17th of March was challenging to accept for many athletes 
and coaches who had been working hard towards State Team 
selection. 

The Prime Minister’s announcements in Mid-March locking down 
the country for what at the time was going to be a minimum of 
six months left an empty feeling in the heart of the gymnastics 
community. Zoom became a household word and training via 
video link would become the ‘norm’ for the near future. Fortunately, 
come June, Western Australia was able to lift its restrictions, and 
our Gymnastics clubs were able to reopen and recommence classes. 

The Men’s Technical Committee were able to host one final 
event for the year that was very well received by the community. 
This involved all levels of competitive Men’s Gymnastics and 
was a relaxed event allowing the athletes to showcase the skills 
they had been working on throughout the second half of 2020. 

Initiatives
Although we were not able to deliver any initiatives in 2020, 
the Technical Committee will roll over our plans to 2021 with the 
addition of the very first MAG Border Challenge Competition in 
Queensland. We are very hopeful we can resume these 
initiatives in 2021.

Acknowledgements
We would like to acknowledge all the Athletes, Coaches and 
Officials who have retired from Men’s Artistic Gymnastics in 
2020. We thank them for their contribution to Gymnastics in 
Western Australia.

BRENTON TREACHER  
Technical Director
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Women’s Artistic Gymnastics

Overview
The year started much like any other. Our senior athletes were 
in competition preparation; we had a full Technical and Judges 
Committee; and our coach, official and athlete numbers were 
looking good. We were fortunate to be able to hold our first 
Qualification Competition for the year, but little did we know 
this would be the one and only for 2020. The announcement of 
the cancellation of the Australian Gymnastics Championships on 
the 17th of March was extremely tough to hear for many athletes 
and coaches who had been working extremely hard over the past 
twelve months. 

Following this, the Prime Minister’s announcements for a hard 
lockdown from the 22nd of March, meant training over video 
link would be the ‘norm’ for the next eight weeks. Come June, 
Western Australia lifted its restrictions, and our Gymnastics 
centres were able to reopen which was a massive relief to us all. 
We were able to host one final event, the Spring Challenge in 
November, which was a fun, relaxed event allowing the athletes 
to display the skills they had been working on throughout the 
second half of 2020. 

Initiatives
Although we were unable to deliver any of our initiatives, the 
Technical Committee will continue with the Additional National 
Levels Tour to the Border Challenge Competition in 
Queensland and the State Squad for our State Team athletes. 
We are very much excited to resume these initiatives in 2021.

Acknowledgements
We would like to acknowledge all the athletes who retired from 
Women’s Artistic Gymnastics in 2020. We thank them for their 
contribution to Women’s Gymnastics in Western Australia.

BEN BARNARD 
Technical Director
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Rhythmic Gymnastics

Overview
2020 was a year that no one expected, with the COVID-19 
pandemic providing a series of challenges and disruptions, which 
may likely continue into 2021. The closure of all clubs for over eight 
weeks between March and May 2020 and then the gradual, 
staggered return to normal operation throughout June was an 
unexpected headache for clubs both financially and also in 
retaining both athletes and staff in their programs. The Rhythmic 
Gymnastics community proved their resilience however, by 
engaging their members via online classes and work-at-home 
programs.

Whilst the disruptions resulted in no Rhythmic-specific coach or 
judge education courses being run in 2020, there were candidates 
from Rhythmic clubs in attendance at the Beginner Coaching 
Courses that were held during the year. Building coach and judge 
numbers in the sport will be major focus area for 2021.

Initiatives
With all events from March onwards cancelled, the RG 
Management Committee, with the assistance of the club coaches, 
put together the RG Spring Challenge event in November. The 
event was open to all levels, with a reduction in the number of 
apparatus competed due to the lost training time throughout the 
first half of the year. The RG Community supported the event, 
which provided all athletes with much needed motivation, reward 
and competition opportunity.

Rhythmic Gymnastics was well represented at the Festival of 
Gymnastics in November, with several Rhythmic athletes 
participating in the Performance Displays. The Rhythmic routines 
proved very popular, with Rhythmic Gymnastics routines winning 
both the Small and Medium Group Performance Display 
categories.

Acknowledgements
2020 marked the final year of the RG Management Committee 
trial and key members of the RG Community met in September to 
discuss a potential new structure for the committee moving forward 
into 2021. Approval by the Gymnastics WA Board resulted in 
the implementation of revised structure for both Rhythmic and 
Aerobic Gymnastics. It is a positive step forward for the committee 
after the disharmony that existed in the previous Technical 
Committees prior to 2019.

Sincere thanks is extended to Karon Williams, who volunteered 
her time to assist the Rhythmic community with refocussing their 
attention and priorities on growing and developing the sport. 
Karon’s calm and considered approach, her neutrality and the 
respect that she holds within the sport in WA was key in leading 
the community towards a more positive outlook in 2020 and 
beyond. The committee members selected to assist Karon over the 
past two years are also commended for the time and effort that 
they have given to improve the sport.

MELISSA READ 
Senior Gymsports Co-ordinator  
(on behalf of the RG Management Committee)26 Annual Report 2020
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AEROBic Gymnastics

Overview
In 2020, Western Australian Aerobic athletes were able to 
compete at the Qualification Competition #1 held on the 8th 
March at the State Gymnastics Centre. Twenty-three athletes 
competed from three different clubs with the competition being 
a success and many athletes starting the competition season off 
with a bang. Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, this was the one 
and only Aerobics competition held and soon after the cancellation 
of the remaining competitions, the season finished. Although this 
was a sad turn of events, Western Australian Aerobic athletes were 
able to make a head start on the 2021 season with many planning 
for new levels or age groups and always staying motivated. 

Initiatives 

In 2020, the Aerobics Technical Committee planned to spend 
time on the following items:

• Reviewing the Judges Invitational Competition ensuring it is 
benefiting the athletes, judges and community while also 
looking at different avenues of fundraising. 

• Focusing on assisting and seeking volunteers in the Aerobics 
community to ensure the improvement of competitions, with 
a focus especially on the scoring role.

• Working with the judges and coaches to plan and hold 
relevant workshops and mentor programs to support officials.

• Create relevant policies to allow interclub multiple routines 
to increase opportunities for Western Australian Aerobics 
athletes that can also allow for increased number of routines 
the state is able to send to the National Championships.

Due to the interruption of COVID-19, the Technical Committee 
were not able to spend time together discussing the above points 
as in depth as originally planned. 

Acknowledgements
The Aerobics Technical Committee would like to acknowledge the 
following athletes and coaches that attended the National Training 
Camp in Melbourne in February:

• Savannah Doyle (Age Group 1 Individual & Trio)

• Millie Kollman (Age Group 1 Trio)

• Andie Edwards (Age Group 1 Trio)

• Rebecca Osborne (Age Group 2 Individual)

• Emma Spence (Elite Individual)

• Cairo Leicester (Coach)

• Samantha Elkington (Coach)

Emma Spence was successful at the National Training Camp 
gaining selection onto the 2020 – 2021 National Squad and a 
spot on the Australian Team as a Senior Individual for the 2020 
Cantanhede Open Competition in Portugal and Suzuki World 
Cup in Tokyo. Samantha Elkington was also successful in gaining 
selection to the Cantanhede World Cup as a coach. 

SAMANTHA ELKINGTON 
Technical Director



Trampoline Gymnastics

Overview
Coming off a successful 2019 for Trampoline Gymnastics in WA, 
2020 proved to be a more challenging year for everyone, 
everywhere. However even when faced with adversity, the 
Trampoline community of Western Australia pulled together and 
still achieved some fantastic things, as well as coming out the 
other side of 2020 with clubs going well and retaining their 
membership base, and in some cases even increasing it.

Initiatives
Tumbling Sub Committee

The Trampoline Gymnastics Technical Committee decided to 
create a subcommittee for promoting the discipline of power 
tumbling in WA. Resulting from a strong 2019 for WA Power 
Tumbling (WA’s first two athletes representing an Australian 
junior team, including a finalist in the 2019 World Age Group 
Championships) we thought it was a great chance to promote the 
sport. Unfortunately, due to the COVID-19 situation, this initiative 
took a back seat, but we do hope to bring it back in 2021. 

Volunteers Workshops

With most events cancelled in 2020, it was always going to be 
a challenge to maintain our volunteer base and try to involve 
new volunteers. However, the Trampoline Technical Committee 
managed to run two volunteer workshops at events in 2020 to 
try and upskill our current volunteers, whilst attracting new 
volunteers to our sport. 

Acknowledgements
• Eva Kierath represented Australia at the Azerbaijan World 

Cup event in Baku

• Eva Kierath was selected to represent Australia at the 
Continental Championships, unfortunately this event was 
cancelled

• Lachlan Robertson was selected to represent Australia at 
the Pacific Rim Championships, unfortunately this event 
was cancelled

• Jack Petrie became the first person in the world (that we 
know off after extensive research) to land a “full, full, full” 
(triple twisting triple back) off of the Double Mini Trampoline 
in training. It is hoped that Jack can land this in an FIG 
competition moving forwards to become officially the first 
ever person to compete the skill.

As Technical Director, I would personally like to thank the 
Technical Committee, as well as all of the clubs, coaches, judges, 
athletes and parents involved in WA trampoline sports for their 
dedication and support of the sport in such a difficult year. 

I hope that 2021 onwards will prove to be far more enjoyable 
for all!

ELLIOT STRATTON 
Technical Director
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Acrobatic Gymnastics

Overview
2020 was an incredibly challenging time for athletes, clubs, 
coaches and the community in general. As with everyone in the 
country, we shared the disappointment and frustration of cancelling 
events, training and the prospect of an uncertain future for 2020 
Acrobatic Gymnastic activities.

Great respect and admiration must be given to clubs and coaches 
for offering zoom sessions and setting challenges and homework 
to keep everyone motivated and engaged through the lockdown 
until we could once again return to the gym and training 
could resume.

2020 also saw the release of a new Australian Levels Program, 
which was welcomed by the community. The ALP offers acrobats 
new challenges and skill options to try for levels 1-6 and slightly 
modified requirements for Level 7-10 in line with the updated 
International Code.

There were limited event opportunities in 2020 due to COVID-19 
however, the State did offer 1 event before lockdown occurred; 
namely Qualification Competition #1. NDGC and West Coast 
offered interclub events later in 2020 both of which saw a positive 
number of acrobats participating.

All clubs have returned to training and report stable if not increased 
participation, which has led to a huge increase in the number of 
pairs and groups preparing for State Team selection in 2021.

Initiatives
Despite reduced opportunities to meet in 2020, the Technical 
Committee developed and released two initiatives designed to 
encourage increased participation opportunities in the sport:

• Masters Program – opportunities for athletes over the age 
of 18yrs to participate in competitive Acrobatic Gymnastics 
with modified Australian Levels requirements. Release of 
this program to clubs will trial at Judges Invitational in 2021. 
The program consists of two division options (one for lower 
level participation and one for ex competitive athletes 
Level 6 and above).

• Interclub Initiative – Clubs find it challenging to form ideal 
groups in Acrobatic gymnastics. Often one club will have a 
top looking for bases and another club will have tops in need 
of a base. This initiative is designed to encourage acrobats 
from different clubs to form groups but still give them the 
chance to remain with their initial club. In 2021, this initiative 
will be trialled at the qualification competition events with 
three acrobats from NDGC/Peak.

Acknowledgements
Thanks must go to the Acrobatic Gymnastics Technical Committee 
for their continued time, effort and passion as well as the WA 
Acrobatic Gymnastics community as a whole. The community may 
be small but always willing to band together and work as a team 
to support each other through what can only be described as the 
most challenging year the sport has ever seen in WA. It is always 
great to see the positive camaraderie between the coaches, 
acrobats and judges from all clubs.

DEBBS VAN HAGEN 
Technical Director
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Gymnastics WA Women’s Artistic Gymnastics High Performance Program

Overview
1 January 2020 saw the WAG High Performance Program 
(WAG HPP) commence with Gymnastics WA. From the 
commencement of the program, we started with 45 athletes 
training in eight groups ranging from identified athletes showing 
gymnastics qualities right through to Senior International athletes. 
The WAG HPP program ran alongside the first WAG athlete 
camp ran by the association. This was a great opportunity for the 
program athletes and coaches to start the year off.

Camps and International Travel
National camps at the AIS were held in January for Junior 
International athletes Sam Powell and Olena Edmeades and 
Senior International athlete Sidney Stephens. February had a 
verification competition by video for junior athlete Olena 
Edmeades that was a final selection for International Gymnix and 
senior athlete Sidney Stephens attended the AIS for her final 
selection verification. 

Both Olena Edmeades, Junior International and Sidney Stephens, 
Senior International were selected for the second year in a row to 
compete at the International Gymnix competition in Montreal, 
Canada. While both the Junior and Senior team finished 5th 
all-round, Olena Edmeades qualified for Beam finals finishing 6th.

Due to COVID-19, all remaining major events and national camps 
were cancelled for 2020, moving to virtual camps only held 
by Gymnastics Australia for Level 9 under to Senior 
International athletes. The following online camps were 
provided to eligible WAG HPP athletes

• May Junior and Senior camp – Sam Powell, Olena 
Edmeades and Sidney Stephens

• May Team Future Advance camp – Chloe Stump, 
Summa Hill and Ursula Sadlo

• August Team Future Advance camp - Chloe Stump, 
Summa Hill and Ursula Sadlo

• August Junior and Senior camp – Sam Powell, Olena 
Edmeades and Sidney Stephens

• September Junior and Senior camp - Sam Powell, Olena 
Edmeades and Sidney Stephens

• October Senior camp – Sidney Stephens

• October Pathways Athlete camp – Hannah Tarzan

• October Team Future Advance camp - Chloe Stump, 
Summa Hill and Ursula Sadlo

• November Junior camp – Sam Powell and Olena Edmeades

• December Team Future Advance camp - Chloe Stump, 
Summa Hill and Ursula Sadlo

• December Junior and Senior camp – Sam Powell, Olena 
Edmeades and Sidney Stephens

COVID-19 also impacted face to face daily training which saw the 
program move to zoom online sessions for planned home programs 
for nine weeks to ensure the athletes maintained their strength, 
flexibility, loading and rehabilitation programs to assist with our 
return to training. This came with many challenges but the rebuild 
out of COVID was delivered slowly over three months to ensure all 
athletes returned safe with the health and wellbeing, being the 
priority for all athletes. 

National squads
Olena Edmeades maintained her National squad membership 
with Gymnastics Australia and joined Sidney Stephens in 
maintaining their AIS Athlete categorisation throughout 2020. 
Olena received a WAIS Training Agreement and Sidney 
Stephens a Western Australia Institute of Sport Scholarship. 

The program however saw Senior International athlete, Sidney 
Stephens retire from the program at the end of 2020 and we 
acknowledge her achievements in the program.

Initiatives
Talent Identification continued to develop throughout 2020. 
With the impact of COVID-19, Talent Identification only took 
place from August to December. In this timeframe Katherine 
Rogers and Alicia Hayes attended 11 primary schools where;

• 33 athletes were invited to attend the TID Come & Try 
days (two were members of Gymnastics WA Clubs). 

• 20 athletes were invited to participate in a 4-week trial 
program. 

HBF Stadium also provided suitable athletes throughout this 
timeframe, which contributed to the growth of the lower end of 
the program. 
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Gymnastics Australia, Western Australian Institute of Sport, 
Venues West, City Toyota and Parents for Gymnastics. The 
program acknowledges the ongoing support and assistance 
these partners provided during 2020 to ensure High 
Performance Women’s Artistic Gymnastic could continue as a 
program in WA.

I would also like to acknowledge the support received throughout 
the year from Stacey Umeh, The Creative Movement Group, 
Sacha Fulton, Peak Performance, Joanne Norcott, Ascend 
Physiotherapy and Subiaco Sports Massage.

DHANA ANTULOV 
Program Manager 
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North West Regional Gymnastic Association

Overview
In 2020, the North West Regional Association had to modify its 
usual calendar due to lockdown and border closures. Despite 
this, the region provided a number of virtual and in person events, 
providing education to athletes, coaches and judges. 

Initiatives
In June, Abid Imam and Debbie Gough introduced the region 
to TeamGym, via an online seminar. This explained the concept 
of TeamGym, walked the coaches through the manual and 
developed interest in clubs and coaches looking to introduce it 
into their club program.

Due to a lack of training and competition preparation time 
available to clubs, the NWRGA decided to run Gymnastics Camps 
in Broome and Exmouth. These camps were to provide skill 
development for both the athletes and coaches, with additional 
accreditation courses to be held. 

Gymnasts and coaches that attended the NWRGA Gymnastics 
Camp held in Broome were from Hedland Gymnastics Club, 
Karratha Gymnastics Club, Kununurra Gymnastics Club and 
Pearl Coast Gymnastics Club. The following accreditation courses 
were held:

• Beginner Coaching Course

• Intermediate Women’s Gymnastics Coaching Course

• Intermediate Tumbling Coaching Course

• Advanced Module One – Tumbling and Spring Module

• Beginner Men’s Gymnastics Judging Course

• Intermediate Men’s Judging Course. 

These courses allowed 34 accreditations to be gained. In addition 
to this, very skilled and experienced coaches in their fields joined 
us to run coach and athlete specific clinics.

Committee members were invited to meet with a club owner to 
explore the complexities of running a gymnastics club. The focus 
of the event was to allow the gymnasts to have a sense of success, 
have fun, build relationships and learn something new. To assist 
with this, all participants were involved in team building games, 
social events and beach training activities. The overall feedback 
from this event was overwhelmingly positive with clubs identifying 
the lack of pressure of competition made a difference to the 
overall enjoyment of the event. 

People attended the NWRGA Gymnastics Camp held in Exmouth 
from Karratha Gymnastics Club and Exmouth Gymnastics Club. 
Coach and athlete clinics were held at this event. The clinics 
covered Women’s and Men’s Artistic Gymnastics but also FreeG 
and Tumbling. These were very popular and are evident of the 
growth of these gymsports in the region. 
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the ongoing support from the Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries - Sport and Recreation, Morgan 
Kate Mair, Krissie Dickman and Simone Fountain for their 
support, guidance and funding; Gymnastics WA, in particular 
Mitchell Collins for his support and guidance. 

The North West Regional Association is also appreciative of 
the continued coaching and judging support provided by the 
Technical Committees. Thank you to the coaches and presenters 
who made our coach and gymnast education possible in 2020. 
Abid Imam and Debbie Gough for providing TeamGym 
Education online. Joshua Fabian, Matthew Lean, Brenton Treacher, 
Alicia Hayes, Erica Zappelli, Krystal Cilia, Catherine Cilia and 
Helen Westley for ensuring the NW Training Camp in Broome 
was a success. Michelle Ranieri, Jen Mohen, Becky House, Helen 
Westley for ensuring the smooth running of the NW Training 
Camp in Exmouth. 

A special thank you goes to the Board for taking on their roles 
and assisting with the running of the North West. Helen Westley 
is acknowledged for always going beyond her role of the 
administrator. Helen’s work is instrumental to the success of the 
NWRGA. The NWRGA Board would like to say thank you to the 
whole North West gymnastics community for their ongoing support. 

KRYSTAL CILIA 
President
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Southern Regional Gymnastics Association

Overview
2020 saw the Southern Regional Gymnastic Association (SRGA) 
make changes within their region due to COVID-19. It was certainly 
a challenging time for the Southern Region clubs and the SRGA, 
however it was also an opportunity to review, reflect and plan 
for the future.

Despite rescheduling and modifying events for 2020, the 
Southern Regional Gymnastic Association continued to support 
clubs and deliver two successful events in the latter half of 2020, 
by providing a competition as well as accreditation courses and 
workshops.

Initiatives
The SRGA embraced the use of webinar platforms during 
COVID-19 lockdown and facilitated meetings with Gymnastics 
WA, as well as joining the TeamGym webinar with Abid Imam 
and Debbie Gough. This instilled much enthusiasm for the 
introduction of another Gymsport to compete within the 
southern region. Following the cancellation of the SRGA Go for 
2 & 5 Regional Championships due to lack of training and 
preparation, a TeamGym event was offered and met with much 
enthusiasm.

The event was a huge success and saw 108 athletes and 10 teams 
from 3 clubs attend the event, with the judging panels consisting 
of all regional judges. Athletes, coaches and spectators immensely 
enjoyed the event meeting the event goals by providing athletes 
with a fun, confidence-building experience to end the year. Thanks 
to Abid Imam from Gymnastics WA for supporting as well as 
attending the event.

The SRGA rescheduled the annual Congress from March to 
September, held in Kukerin. This event attracted great numbers 
from around the region and offered the Beginner, Kindergym 
and TeamGym accreditation courses. A full two-day program of 
dynamic and interactive workshops providing coaches with 
the opportunity for growth and development, as well as the 
opportunity to network and socialise. A lot of fun and laughter 
took place over the weekend.

Both events also saw a lot of coach and committee discussions held 
regarding differing club directions for 2021, as a consequence 
of COVID-19, coaching staff turnover, and parent/athlete 
expectations and desires within the sport. 
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Industries, continue to provide the SRGA with ongoing support. 
In particular, Emma Draper and the team at the Wheatbelt 
Office have provided much support and guidance throughout 
the year. The staff at Gymnastics WA also continue to support 
and provide guidance as needed. Thank you to Mitchell Collins 
and Abid Imam who supported the SRGA with the provision of 
education and the introduction of TeamGym to the region.

The Men’s and Women’s Artistic Technical Committees continue 
to be supportive of the SRGA. A big thank you to Debbie Gough 
who was instrumental in the enthusiastic education and delivery 
of TeamGym courses and competition. Thank you to Michelle 
Ranieri from Elements Gymnastics, for attending Congress and 
presenting for the two days without wavering in enthusiasm, 
laughter and knowledge.

During 2020, Sharon and Paula retired from their respective 
clubs (Esperance and Narrogin) after many years of coaching, 
where they were often the only club coach. They have retired 
knowing that they were leaving the clubs in good coaching hands 
but remained committed to their clubs and the SRGA. Sincere 
thanks and appreciation goes out to both Sharon and Paula. 

To the devoted and committed SRGA Board members – thank 
you. Without such an enthusiastic group of volunteers, the SRGA 
would not be able to provide education and events within the 
southern region.

SERENA SANDWELL 
President
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2020 Member Clubs & associates

Active Gymnastics

Armadale Gymnastics Club

Batavia Coast Gymnastics

College Park Gymnastic Academy

Contemporary Gymnastics Academy 

Denmark Gymnastics

Dumbleyung Gymnastics Club

Eastern Hills Gymnastics

Esperance Twilight Aerials Gymnastics 
Academy

Exmouth Gymnastics Club

Flip Zone

Forefront Gymnastics

Freo Flyers

Gascoyne Gymnastics Club

Geraldton Gymnastics Club

Gravity ETC

Great Southern Gymsports Inc

Hedland Gymnastics Club

High Flyers Trampoline and Gymnastics 
Academy

Horizon Gymnastics Club

Infinity Gymsports

In Motion Gymnastics

IRC Gymnastics

Jazz Attack

Jungle Gym

Karratha Gymnastics Club

Kings Gymnastics

Kununurra Gymnastics Club

Lake Grace Gymnastics Club

Narrogin Gymnastics Club

Northern Districts Gymnastic Club

Peak Trampoline

Pearl Coast Gymnastics Club Broome

Rhythmic Gymnastics Academy

Roleystone Gymnastics Club

Spirit Gymsports

Star-Mites Gym Sports

Southern Gymstars

Swan Districts Gymnastics

T.J.’s Gymsports

The Academy of Gymnastics

Tom Price Gymnastics Club

Vital Gymnastics

WA PCYC

Walpole Gymnastics Club

West Coast Gymnasts

Wongan Gymnastics Club

Zig Zag Gymnastics

Associates
Gymbus

Jacaranda

North West Regional Gymnastics 
Association

Parents for Gymnastics

Perth Sports Institute

Southern Regional Gymnastics 
Association



38 Annual Report 2020



Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

ABN: 35 014 656 688 

Annual Financial Report 

31 December 2020 

2020 annual financial report



40 Annual Report 2020



Annual Report 2020 41

Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Contents 

31 December 2020 

Page 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 1 
Statement of Financial Position 2 
Statement of Changes in Equity 3 
Statement of Cash Flows 4 
Notes to the Financial Statements 5 
Statement by Members of the Board 22 
Independent Auditor’s Report 23 
Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration 25 

page

42

43

44

45

46 – 62

63

64 – 66

67



42 Annual Report 2020

Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
1 

Note 2020 2019 

$ $ 
Revenue and income 
Membership 466,033 939,935 
Development 45,379 70,681 
Community & Engagement - 13,563 
Events 91,577 414,837 
High performance 244,067 23,110 
Tours 34,636 299,862 
Other 32,559 46,875 
Grants income 3 494,752 276,204 
COVID-19 income 4 651,000 - 
Facility 5 93,346 138,215 
Donations 10,000 - 
Total revenue and income 2,163,349 2,223,282 

Expenditure 
Membership (197,768) (297,328) 
Development (31,981) (63,786) 
Community & Engagement (49,632) (24,579) 
Events (39,597) (237,865) 
High performance (67,703) (32,888) 
Tours (40,189) (332,633) 
Facility 5 (92,569) (92,699) 
Management and Administration 6 (1,352,473) (1,286,890) 
Facility and office - depreciation 7 (87,347) (83,813) 
Grants (33,176) (61,111) 
Operating expenditure (1,992,435) (2,513,592) 

Finance income 8 9,179 17,219 
Finance expense 8 (27,367) (34,426) 
Operating surplus/(deficit) 152,726 (307,517) 

Other comprehensive income 
Other comprehensive income - - 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 152,726 (307,517) 
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Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Statement of Financial Position 
As At 31 December 2020 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
2 

  Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Assets        
Current assets        
Cash and cash equivalents 9 732,133 391,591 
Trade and other receivables 10 55,083 40,493 
Other financial assets 11 451,360 451,054 
Inventories   14,004 15,765 
Prepayments   13,757 72,858 
Total current assets   1,266,337 971,761 
        
Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment 12 188,546 233,296 
Right-of-use assets 13 286,622 329,219 
Total non-current assets   475,168 562,515 
Total assets   1,741,505 1,534,276 
        
Liabilities       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables 14 222,839 99,973 
Lease liabilities 15 35,299 32,384 
Employee entitlements 16 84,837 122,581 
Income received in advance 17 33,936 37,887 
Total current liabilities   376,911 292,825 
        
Non-current liabilities       
Lease liabilities 15 271,893 307,236 
Employee entitlements 16 5,759 - 
Total non-current liabilities   277,652 307,236 
Total liabilities   654,563 600,061 
        
Net assets   1,086,941 934,215 
        
Equity        
Accumulated surplus   832,076 659,722 
Reserves   254,865 274,493 
Total equity   1,086,941 934,215 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
3 

  Accumulated 
surplus 

Judges' funds 
reserve Total 

  $ $ $ 
Balance as at 1 January 2020 659,722 274,493 934,215 
Comprehensive income       
Surplus for the year 152,726  - 152,726 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
the members of the entity 152,726  - 152,726 
        
Transactions with members of the entity       
Transfer from judges' funds reserve 19,628 (19,628)  - 
Total transactions with members of the entity 19,628 (19,628)  - 
Balance as at 31 December 2020 832,076 254,865 1,086,941 
        
        
Balance as at 1 January 2019 962,729 279,003 1,241,732 
Comprehensive income       
Deficit for the year (307,517)  - (307,517) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the 
members of the entity (307,517)  - (307,517) 
        
Transactions with members of the entity       
Transfer from judges' funds reserve 4,510 (4,510)  - 
Total transactions with members of the entity 4,510 (4,510)  - 
Balance as at 31 December 2019 659,722 274,493 934,215 
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Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2020 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
4 

Note 2020 2019 
Cash flows from operating activities $ $ 
Receipts from members 512,636 1,033,929  
Receipts from grants and sponsorships 1,237,227 206,199  
Receipts from other operations 609,426 1,138,187  
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,974,847) (2,738,976) 
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 18 384,442 (360,661) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 - (30,811) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - 4,977  
Increase in deposits (306) (524) 
Interest received 8 9,179 17,219  
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 8,873 (9,139) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Payment of lease liabilities (52,773) (47,241) 
Net cash used in financing activities (52,773) (47,241) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 340,542 (417,041) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    391,591 808,632 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 732,133 391,591 



46 Annual Report 2020

Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 

5 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Preparation 

Gymnastics Western Australia Inc (the “Association”) is an Incorporated Association domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the Association's registered office is 99 Loftus Street, Leederville WA 6007. 
The Association is a not-for-profit entity and primarily is involved in representing the interests of 
Western Australia Gymnastics and in co-operation with Gymnastics Australia Limited (GA) and other 
GA Association Members, to co-ordinate and provide for the participation by Western Australian 
athletes, coaches and officials in Gymnastics and approved State, national and international 
competitions. 

The Board has determined that the Association is not publicly accountable. 

The Tier 2 general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Associations Incorporation Act 2015. These financial statements 
comply with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historic costs and 
do not take into account changing money values or, except where stated specifically, current 
valuations of non-current assets. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Association’s functional 
currency.  

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 April 2021. 

(b) Income tax 

The Association is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1997. 

(c) Revenue 

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Association is 
expected to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract 
with a customer, the Association:  

 identifies the contract with a customer;
 identifies the performance obligations in the contract;
 determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and

the time value of money;
 allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative

stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and
 recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts

the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised.
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Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 

6 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(c) Revenue (continued) 

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)  

Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the 
customer such as discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer 
and any other contingent events. Such estimates are determined using either the 'expected value' or 
'most likely amount' method. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining 
principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a 
significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement 
constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently 
resolved. Amounts received that are subject to the constraining principle are recognised as a refund 
liability. 

AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities 

Income under this standard is recognised where: an asset is received in a transaction, such as by way 
of grant, bequest or donation; there has either been no consideration transferred, or the consideration 
paid is significantly less than the asset's fair value; and where the intention is to principally enable the 
entity to further its objectives.  

For transfers of financial assets to the entity which enable it to acquire or construct a recognisable 
non-financial asset, the entity must recognise a liability amounting to the excess of the fair value of 
the transfer received over any related amounts recognised. The liability is brought to account as 
income over the period in which the entity satisfies its performance obligation. 

If the transaction does not enable the entity to acquire or construct a recognisable non-financial asset 
to be controlled by the entity, then any excess of the initial carrying amount of the recognised asset 
over the related amounts is recognised as income immediately 

(i) Grants revenue 

Grant agreements are reviewed in line with the requirements of AASB 15 and AASB 1058, as 
discussed above. 

For contracts that satisfy the criteria of AASB 15, revenue is recognised over time, when or 
as each performance obligation is satisfied based on the input cost method.  

For contracts that satisfy the criteria of AASB 1058, the consideration provided to acquire an 
asset, including cash, is initially recognised as a liability and recognised as income in the profit 
or loss when, or as, the entity satisfies its obligations under the enforceable agreement. If no 
consideration was received, the difference being the fair value of the asset transferred is 
recognised as revenue in the period in which the entity took control of the asset. 

If conditions are attached to the grant, which must be satisfied before the Association is 
eligible to retain the contribution, the grant, will be recognised in the statement of financial 
position as a liability until those conditions are satisfied. 

(ii) Membership revenue 

Revenue is recognised over time across the membership period at which the services relate 
to. 
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(c) Revenue (continued) 

AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities (continued) 

(iii) Events and Tours revenue 

Revenue is recognised at the point in time dependent on a specific event or tour occurring. 

(iv) Facility revenue 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the rights to receive payment are satisfied. 

(v) Other income 

Other revenue includes Community and Engagement, Development, High Performance and 
other. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the goods or service has been provided and 
the rights to receive payment are satisfied. 

(vi) Volunteer services 

The Association has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other 
form of contribution received. As such, any related consumption or capitalization of such 
resources received is also not recognised. 

(d) Financial instruments 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets 
and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Association becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.  

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a 
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI – 
debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the 
Association changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all 
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following 
the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated as at FVTPL:  

 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(d) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:  

 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Association may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This 
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.  

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above 
are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Association may irrevocably designate a 
financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise. 

Financial assets – Business model assessment 

The Association makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a 
financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is 
managed and information is provided to management.  

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition 
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Association’s continuing 
recognition of the assets. 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated 
on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 

Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial 
asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money 
and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular 
period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative 
costs), as well as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, 
the Association considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing 
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or 
amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.  

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses  

Financial assets at FVTPL 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(d) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial assets at amortised cost. 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest 
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. 
Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

(iii) Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Association derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows 
in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred or in which the Association neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

The Association enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its 
statement of financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. 

Financial liabilities 

The Association derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Association also derecognises a financial liability when 
its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in 
which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.  

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 
extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.   

(iv) Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Association currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

(e) Judges’ funds reserve 

The judges’ funds reserve represents amounts that are specifically identifiable to primarily fund the 
future travel and education costs of the Association’s judges. The future obligation of this reserve is 
at the Board’s discretion. 

(f) Inventories - merchandise 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(g) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. 
The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment is depreciated over the useful lives of 
the assets to the Association commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.  

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the Board to ensure it 
is not in excess of the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. 
The expected net cash flows have not been discounted in determining recoverable amounts. 

Depreciation  

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below: 

Fixed asset class Depreciation Rate (%) 

Gymnastics equipment 10 

Office equipment 10 - 25 

Computer equipment 25 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

(h) Impairment 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 

Financial instruments and contract assets 

The Association recognises loss allowances for ECLs (expected credit losses) on:  

 financial assets measured at amortised cost;

 debt investments measured at FVOCI; and

The Association measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs. 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Association considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Association’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking 
information.  

The Association assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if 
it is more than 30 days past due.  

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument.  
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(h) Impairment (continued) 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets (continued) 

Financial instruments and contract assets (continued) 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the 
instrument is less than 12 months).  

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period 
over which the Association is exposed to credit risk.  

Measurement of ECLs 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the 
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Association expects to 
receive). 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Association assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised 
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred.  

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position  

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.  

Write-off  

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Association has no 
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The 
Association makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based 
on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. 

(ii) Non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Association reviews the carrying values of its non-
financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been 
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of 
the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use (determined as depreciated 
replacement cost), is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's 
carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement. 
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(i) Employee entitlements 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Association has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation 
can be estimated reliably. 

Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as the related service is 
provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in future payments is available. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is 
discounted to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise. 

(j) Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Association assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset, the Association uses the definition of a lease in AASB 
16.  

(i) As a lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the 
Association allocated the consideration in the contract of each lease component on the basis 
of its relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the Association has 
elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease 
components as a single lease component. 

The Association recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises 
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site of 
which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of 
the underlying asset to the Association by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-
use asset reflects that the Association will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-
of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is 
determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-
use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability. 
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(j) Leases (continued) 

(i) As a lessee (continued) 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if 
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Association’s incremental borrowing rate. 
Generally, the Association uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.  

The Association determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from 
various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the 
lease and type of the asset leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:  

 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date;

 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Association is reasonably certain to
exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal period if the  Association is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease
unless the Association is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in the future lease payments arising from a change in an 
index or rate, if there is a change in the Association’s estimate of the amount expected to be 
payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Association changes its assessment of 
whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-
substance fixed lease payment.  

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the varying value of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Association presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in the 
statement of financial position. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Association has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases 
of low-value assets and short-term leases. The Association recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Association 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their 
relative stand-alone prices. 



Annual Report 2020 55

Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 

14 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(j) Leases (continued) 

COVID-19-related rent concessions 

The Association has applied COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to IFRS 16. 
The Association applies the practical expedient allowing it not to assess whether eligible rent 
concessions that are a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease 
modifications. The Association applies the practical expedient consistently to contracts with 
similar characteristics and in similar circumstances. For rent concessions in leases to which 
the Association chooses not to apply the practical expedient, or that do not qualify for the 
practical expedient, the Association assesses whether there is a lease modification.  

 (k) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as 
operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.  

(l) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The Board evaluates estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the Association. 

(m) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

In the period ended 31 December 2020, the Association has reviewed all of the new and revised 
standards and interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to the Association and effective 
for the current reporting period. As a result of this review, the Association has determined that there 
is no material impact of the new and revised standards and interpretations on the Association and, 
therefore, no material change is necessary to the Association’s accounting policies. 

2 Change in Significant Accounting Policies 

The Association has early adopted COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions – Amendment to IFRS 16 
issued on 28 May 2020. The amendment introduces an optional practical expedient for leases in 
which the Association is a lessee – i.e. for leases to which the Association applies the practical 
expedient, the Association is not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions that are a 
direct consequence of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic are lease modifications. The Association 
has applied the amendment to all COVID-19 rent concessions received in FY2020. The amendment 
has no impact on retained earnings at 1 January 2020. 
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3 Grants 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

DLGSC Grants  240,000 120,000 
Healthyway Grant 140,000 139,000 
Other Grants 114,752 17,204 

494,752 276,204 

4 COVID-19 Income  

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Jobkeeper and Cashflow Boost 371,000 - 
Resilience Funding  280,000 - 

651,000 - 

5 Facility  

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Facility income 
Facility hire 93,346 129,915 
Facility - gain on sale - 8,300 

93,346 138,215 

Facility income is recognised at a point in time when the rights to receive payment are satisfied. 

Facility expense 
Facility - expense (92,569) (92,699) 

(92,569) (92,699) 

6 Management and Administration 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Salaries and wages 1,198,061 1,111,093 
Professional services & contractors 94,177 68,907 
Office running costs 33,188 82,933 
Bad debts - 5 
Other 27,047 23,952 

1,352,473 1,286,890 



Annual Report 2020 57

Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2020 

 

16 

7 Facility and office – depreciation 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Depreciation - property, plant and equipment 44,750 45,223 
Depreciation - right-of-use assets 42,597 38,590 
  87,347 83,813 

 
 

8 Finance income and expenses 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Finance income     
Interest income 9,179 17,219 
  9,179 17,219 
Finance expenses     
Bank charges (7,022) (15,374) 
Interest expense (20,345) (19,052) 
  (27,367) (34,426) 

 
 

9 Cash and cash equivalents 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Bank balances 732,133 391,591 
  732,133 391,591 

 
 
10 Trade and other receivables 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Trade receivables 55,083 39,343 
Goods and services tax receivable - 1,150 
  55,083 40,493 

 
 
11 Other financial assets 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Term deposits 451,360 451,054 

 451,360 451,054 
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12 Property, plant and equipment 

Gymnastics 
equipment 

Office 
Equipment 

Computer 
software Total 

$ $ $ $ 
At Cost 
Balance at 1 January 2020 462,254 132,518 7,204 601,976 
Additions  -  -  - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 462,254 132,518 7,204 601,976 

Depreciation 
Balance at 1 January 2020 (242,256) (119,681) (6,743) (368,680) 
Depreciation (38,229) (6,333) (188) (44,750) 
Disposals  -  -  - - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 (280,485) (126,014) (6,931) (413,430) 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 181,769 6,504 273 188,546 

At Cost 
Balance at 1 January 2019 434,023 129,938 7,204 571,165 
Additions 28,231 2,580  - 30,811 

Balance at 31 December 2019 462,254 132,518 7,204 601,976 

Depreciation 
Balance at 1 January 2019 (199,016) (112,909) (6,555) (318,480) 
Depreciation (38,263) (6,772) (188) (45,223) 
Disposals (4,977)  -  - (4,977) 

Balance at 31 December 2019 (242,256) (119,681) (6,743) (368,680) 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 219,998 12,837 461 233,296 
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13 Right-of-use assets 

The Association leases its office premises (including car parking) on a lease which expires on 1 May 2028. 
Lease payments are adjusted annually for the consumer price index. The Association also leases phone 
reception equipment on a lease of 60 months.   

Information about leases for which the Association is a lessee is presented below. 

(i) Right-of-use assets 

 31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

$ $ 
Buildings (office premises) 
Balance at 1 January 297,736  333,464 
Depreciation  (35,728) (35,728) 
Balance at 31 December  262,008 297,736 

Plant and equipment 
Balance at 1 January 31,483  - 
Additions to right-of-use assets - 34,345 
Depreciation  (6,869) (2,862) 
Balance at 31 December  24,614 31,483 

286,622 329,219 

(ii) Amounts recognised in profit and loss 

31 December 
2020 

31 December 
2019 

$ $ 
Interest on lease liabilities 20,345 19,052 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 42,597 38,590 
Expenses relating to short-term leases - 26,394 

62,942 84,036 
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14 Trade and other payables 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Trade payables     
Trade payables 85,699 23,084 
  85,699 23,084 
Other payables     
Goods and services payable 18,268 - 
PAYG tax payable 41,451 17,386 
Superannuation payable 28,655 8,210 
Accrued expenses 46,496 44,478 
Other payables 2,270 6,815 
  137,140 76,889 
  222,839 99,973 

 
 
15 Lease liabilities 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Current     
Lease liabilities 35,299 32,384 
  35,299 32,384 
Non-current     
Lease liabilities 271,893 307,236 
  271,893 307,236 

 

 

16 Employee entitlements 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Current     
Provision for annual leave and long service leave 84,837 122,581 
  84,837 122,581 
Non-current     
Provision for long service leave 5,759 - 
  5,759 - 
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17 Income received in advance 

2020 2019 
Contract liabilities:  $ $ 
Income received in advance 22,686 5,637 
Grants received in advance 11,250 32,250 

33,936 37,887 

18 Reconciliation of cash flow 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities: 
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 152,726 (307,517) 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation - property, plant and equipment 44,750 45,223  
Depreciation - right-of-use assets 42,597 38,590  
Interest received (9,179) (17,219) 
Interest paid 20,345 19,052  
Changes in assets and liabilities: 
Change in trade and other receivables (14,590) 22,949  
Change in prepayments 59,101 (61,817) 
Change in inventories 1,761 (6,180) 
Change in trade and other payables 122,866 (32,226) 
Change to income received in advance (3,951) (84,127) 
Change in employee benefits (31,985) 22,611  
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 384,442 (360,661) 

19 Remuneration of auditors 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Remuneration of the auditor, KPMG, for: 
 - auditing the financial statements 9,200 8,850 
 - other services 4,500 4,150 

13,700 13,000 

20 Related parties 

Key management personnel 

Any person having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity is 
considered key management personnel. 

Key management remuneration is comprised of short-term, long-term and post-employment employee 
benefits of $337,569 (2019: $319,866). The total number of key management personnel is 4. 
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21 Contingencies 

In the opinion of the Directors, the Association did not have any contingencies at 31 December 2020 (2019: 
none). 

22 Events occurring after the reporting date 

There is, at the date of this report, no other matter or circumstance which has arisen since 31 December 
2020 that has significantly affected, or may slightly affect: 

(a) the Association’s operations in future financial years; or 
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years; or 
(c) the Association’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
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In the opinion of the directors of Gymnastics Western Australia Inc (“the Association”): 

(a) the Association is not publicly accountable; 

(b) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 1 to 21, are in accordance with the Associations 
Incorporation Act 2015, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of 
its performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Associations Incorporation Act 2015; and 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable. 

President........................................................................ 
Desiree Jones 

Dated:  6th April 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the members of Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial 
Statements of Gymnastics Western 
Australia Inc (the Association). 

In our opinion,  

• the accompanying Financial 
Statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the 
Association as at 31 December 2020 
and of its financial performance for the 
year ended on that date in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards - 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and the Associations Incorporations 
Act 2015. 

• financial records kept by the 
Association are such as to enable 
financial statements to be prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

The Financial Statements comprise:

• Statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2020 

• Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, Statement of changes in equity, and 
Statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies 

• Statement by members of the Board. 

 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  

We are independent of the Association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
Financial Statements in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code.  
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Other Information  

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Gymnastics Western Australia Inc’s 
annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Statements and the Auditor’s Report. 
The Association’s Directors are responsible for the Other Information.  

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information. In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with 
the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
 

Responsibilities of the Association’s Board members for the Financial Statements  

The Association’s Board members are responsible for: 

• preparing Financial Statements that give a true and fair view of the Financial Statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the 
Associations Incorporations Act 2015 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that 
give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• assessing the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do 
so.  
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Financial Statements. 
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description forms part of our Auditor’s 
Report. 
 

 

                                                                  

KPMG                                                                           Matthew Beevers 
 
                                                                                     Partner 
                                                                                    
                                                                                     Perth 
 
                                                                                     6 April 2021 

 

 

 

  

KPM_INI_01          

PAR_SIG_01 PAR_NAM_01 PAR_POS_01 PAR_DAT_01 PAR_CIT_01      



Annual Report 2020 67

 

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The 
KPMG name and logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global 
organisation. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 80 of the Associations Incorporation Act 2015 

To the Directors of Gymnastics Western Australia Inc 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Gymnastics Western 
Australia Inc for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Associations Incorporation Act 2015  in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

  

KPM_INI_01          

PAR_SIG_01 PAR_NAM_01 PAR_POS_01 PAR_DAT_01 PAR_CIT_01      

                                                                  

KPMG                                                                          Matthew Beevers 
 
                                                                                     Partner 
                                                                                    
                                                                                     Perth 
 
                                                                                     6 April 2021 
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partners and sponsors

partners

major partners

if you don’t leap 
you’ll never know what it’s like to fly



State Gymnastics Centre

Loftus Recreation Centre
99 Loftus Street 
LEEDERVILLE WA 6007

P (08) 9228 9399
E info@gymnasticswa.asn.au
www.gymnasticswa.asn.au
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